Social Impact Assessment Guideline

July 2025





Version control register

Version number	Date created	Approved by
1.0	March 2018	Coordinator-General, Office of the Coordinator-General
2.0	July 2025	Coordinator-General, Office of the Coordinator-General, and Director-General, Department of State Development, Infrastructure and Planning

The Department of State Development, Infrastructure and Planning, connects industries, businesses, communities and government (at all levels) to leverage regions' strengths to generate sustainable and enduring economic growth that supports well-planned, inclusive and resilient communities.

Acknowledgement of Country

The department acknowledges the First Nations peoples in Queensland: Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples and their connections to the lands, winds and waters we now all share. We pay our respect to Elders, past, present and emerging. We also acknowledge the continuous living culture of First Nations Queenslanders – their diverse languages, customs and traditions, knowledges and systems. We acknowledge the deep relationship, connection and responsibility to land, sea, sky and Country as an integral element of First Nations identity and culture.

The Country is sacred. Everything on the land has meaning and all people are one with it. We acknowledge First Nations peoples' sacred connection as central to culture and being. We acknowledge the stories, traditions and living cultures of First Nations peoples and commit to shaping our state's future together. The department recognises the contribution of First Nations peoples and communities to the State of Queensland and how this continues to enrich our society more broadly.

Copyright

This publication is protected by the Copyright Act 1968.

Licence



This work, except as identified below, is licensed by the Department of State Development, Infrastructure and Planning under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-No Derivative Works (CC BY-NC-ND) 4.0 Australia licence. To view a copy of this licence, visit: <u>http://creativecommons.org.au/</u>

You are free to copy, communicate and adapt this publication, as long as you attribute it as follows: © Department of State Development, Infrastructure and Planning, July 2025.

Third party material that is not licensed under a Creative Commons licence is referenced within this document. All content not licensed under a Creative Commons licence is all rights reserved. Please contact the Department of State Development, Infrastructure and Planning, the copyright owner if you wish to use this material.

Translating and interpreting service



The Queensland Government is committed to providing accessible services to Queenslanders of all cultural and linguistic backgrounds. If you have difficulty understanding this publication and need a translator, please call the Translating and Interpreting Service (TIS National) on 13 1450 and ask them to contact the Queensland Department of State Development, Infrastructure and Planning on 07 3328 4811.

Disclaimer

While every care has been taken in preparing this publication, to the extent permitted by law, the State of Queensland accepts no responsibility and disclaims all liability (including without limitation, liability in negligence) for all expenses, losses (including direct and indirect loss), damages and costs incurred as a result of decisions or actions taken as a result of any data, information, statement or advice, expressed or implied, contained within. To the best of our knowledge, the content was correct at the time of publishing.

Any references to legislation are not an interpretation of the law. They are to be used as a guide only. The information in this publication is general and does not take into account individual circumstances or situations. Where appropriate, independent legal advice should be sought.

Copies of this publication are available on our website at www.statedevelopment.qld.gov.au/cg and further copies are available upon request.

Contact us

- Phone: 1800 001 048
- Email: cpdinfo@coordinatorgeneral.qld.gov.au
- Web: www.statedevelopment.qld.gov.au/cg
- Post: PO Box 15517 City East Qld 4002
- Address: 1 William Street Brisbane QLD 4000 (Australia)

Source number D25/107961

Contents

Introduction	. 1
Environmental impact statements	1
The Strong and Sustainable Resource Communities Act 2017	1
The Planning Act 2016	2
SIA process	. 3
SIA principles	4
SIA phases	6
Community and stakeholder engagement	13
Local business and industry procurement	16
Health and community well-being	.17
	Introduction Effect Environmental impact statements The Strong and Sustainable Resource Communities Act 2017 The Planning Act 2016 SIA process Integration with the EIS process and Planning Act SIA principles SIA phases Key matters for the SIA Community and stakeholder engagement Workforce management Housing and accommodation Local business and industry procurement Health and community well-being

Appendices

Appendix 2. References

Figures

Figure 1 Integration of the SIA process with the regulatory EIS process and Planning Act process......5

Tables

Table 1	Principles to inform the development of an SIA	.4
Table 2	Community and stakeholder engagement for an EIS project	.8
Table 3	Community and stakeholder engagement for a project under the Planning Act	.8

1. Introduction

A social impact assessment (SIA) is required for all projects subject to an environmental impact statement (EIS) process under the *State Development and Public Works Organisation Act 1971* (SDPWO Act) or the *Environmental Protection Act 1994* (EP Act). It is also required for development prescribed in the *Planning Act 2016* (Planning Act) to be development requiring an SIA.

The SIA process identifies, predicts, evaluates and develops responses to social or socio-economic impacts as part of an integrated assessment that also considers environmental, economic, and cultural impacts.

This Social Impact Assessment Guideline (SIA Guideline) has been prepared to provide information on details that must be included in an SIA. The guideline covers the identification and assessment of potential social impacts, as well as their management and monitoring.

This SIA Guideline was originally published in March 2018 and this version was published in July 2025.

1.1 Effect

The SIA Guideline is a statutory instrument for:

- resource projects and has been made by the Coordinator-General in accordance with section 9(4) of the Strong and Sustainable Resource Communities Act 2017 (SSRC Act)
- the requirements for the development of an SIA report in accordance with section 106W of the Planning Act.

The SIA Guideline is a non-statutory instrument for:

• non-resource projects subject to an EIS process under the SDPWO Act or the EP Act.

1.2 Environmental impact statements

The purpose of an EIS is to assess and report on a project's social, economic and environmental impacts and the measures proposed to mitigate the potential impacts of the project. This includes the Coordinator-General's evaluation of the social impacts of a project and the decision whether or not to allow the project to proceed.

The definition of environment in the SDPWO Act and the EP Act includes social matters that affect people and communities. The consideration of social impacts through an SIA is therefore required for EISs under both Acts. An SIA is released for public comment as an integral component of an EIS.

1.3 The Strong and Sustainable Resource Communities Act 2017

The object of the SSRC Act is to ensure that residents of communities near large resource projects benefit from the construction and operation of the projects.

Sections 9, 10 and 11 of the SSRC Act provide the regulatory framework for the SIA of large resource projects. This framework includes provisions for the following:

• the matters an SIA must provide for in relation to a project

- adoption of a recruitment hierarchy, prioritising recruitment from local and regional communities first, then recruitment of workers to the regional community
- · Coordinator-General's conditions to manage the potential social impacts of a project
- enforcement provisions for conditions stated by the Coordinator-General to manage the potential social impacts of a project.

The SIA provisions of the SSRC Act work in conjunction with the Act's other provisions to achieve the object of the SSRC Act. The other provisions include:

- prohibition of 100 per cent fly-in, fly-out (FIFO) workforce arrangements on operational large resource projects
- prevention of discrimination against locals in the recruitment of workers
- monitoring and compliance.

The SSRC Act ensures that the framework for SIA is consistently applied to large resource projects that require an EIS under the SDPWO Act or the EP Act.

1.4 The Planning Act 2016

The Planning Act establishes Queensland's planning framework. The Planning Act is broadly structured around the four main systems: community benefit, plan-making, development assessment and dispute resolution. It establishes the framework of planning instruments and is supported by other legislation including regulations.

For prescribed developments, the Planning Act ensures social impacts are appropriately considered and assessed by a proponent before a development application is lodged for assessment. Frontloading this obligation means that commitments made by proponents to address community impacts prior to development assessment are consistent with development applications and factored into the development approval, including conditions, if granted.

Within the Planning Act an SIA provides the necessary information to support the development and execution of a Community Benefit Agreement (CBA) with relevant parties prior to lodgement of a change application or development application for prescribed development. To ensure this process is undertaken appropriately, the following steps are mandatory for the completion of an SIA under the Planning Act.

- (1) Provision of a notice of intent to the relevant local governments, advising of the intent to commence an SIA within their local government area. This notice is to include an offer for the local governments to participate in the scoping of the SIA study.
- (2) Provision of a notice of intent to commence community and stakeholder engagement, submitted to the relevant local governments prior to the commencement of such activities. This notice is to include an offer for the local governments to participate in any relevant community and stakeholder engagement activities.
- (3) Provision of the finalised SIA report to the relevant local governments. When providing the relevant local governments a copy of the SIA report, the proponent may wish to seek local government acceptance of the content of the SIA report as the basis for negotiating a CBA.

For the purposes of the Planning Act, step 1 above is considered to be:

(a) an SIA for the purpose of informing negotiations for a CBA under section 106Z entering into community benefit agreements, and

(b) the commencement of negotiations for a CBA for the purposes of section 106ZB referral to mediation.

2. SIA process

An SIA is a process for the identification, analysis, assessment, management and monitoring of the social impacts of a project, both positive and negative. The social impacts of a project are the direct and indirect impacts that affect people and their communities at all stages of the project lifecycle.

The SIA must address the following key matters:

- · community and stakeholder engagement
- workforce management
- housing and accommodation
- · local business and industry procurement
- health and community well-being.

Addressing the key matters above in an SIA is a statutory requirement for large resource projects under section 9 of the SSRC Act and for development prescribed by regulation under Part 5B of the Planning Regulation 2017. The details that must be included in an SIA for each of the key matters are provided in section 3.

2.1 Integration with the EIS process and Planning Act

An SIA is part of the assessment process for each project. Figure 1 explains how the SIA process aligns and integrates with the EIS process and the development approval process under the Planning Act.

In the EIS process the SIA report is released for public comment with the project's EIS. Based on the feedback received, the Coordinator-General may request amendments to the SIA. The Coordinator-General may, as part of evaluating a project's EIS, condition the project to require the management of social impacts.

In the Planning Act the SIA report forms part of the development application material for the project. Beyond the community and stakeholder engagement in the development of the SIA, further engagement is also sought in the public notification stage of the development assessment process, where relevant.

Based on submissions received through the public notification stage, or subject to directions given by the chief executive under section 106ZD of the Planning Act, the assessment manager may, as part of the development assessment process, condition a development approval to require the management of social impacts.

2.2 SIA principles

The following principles are to inform the development of an SIA.

 Table 1
 Principles to inform the development of an SIA

Lifecycle focused	An SIA is to consider the full lifecycle of the project
Reasonable	An SIA is to be commensurate with the nature and scale of the project, the sensitivity of the social environment, and the likely scope and significance of the resultant project related social impacts
Participatory	Engagement for an SIA is to be inclusive, respectful, meaningful and tailored to the needs of potentially impacted individuals and groups, including special consideration of the needs of First Nations peoples and marginalised groups
Rigorous	An SIA is to be based on objective, comprehensive social impact analysis, incorporating the most up to date information on the communities affected and the project
Effective management	An SIA is to include effective social management measures that enhance potential benefits and mitigate potential negative impacts
Adaptive	Management measures are to be monitored, reviewed, and adjusted to ensure ongoing effectiveness.



Figure 1 Integration of the SIA process with the regulatory EIS process and Planning Act process

2.3 SIA phases

The phases of the SIA process are shown in Figure 1 and explained below. The outcomes of the SIA process are to be documented in an SIA report, along with an explanation of the approach and methods used for each phase of the SIA.

2.3.1 Scoping

The scoping phase allows for the early identification of the likely SIA issues and ensures that the SIA is appropriately scaled and consistent with regulatory requirements.

Scoping phase activities include describing the project and study area, determining the regulatory context, identifying and profiling affected communities, identifying stakeholders, identifying relevant social indicators, conducting a preliminary review of potential social impacts and benefits and considering potential project design alternatives. These matters are typically addressed in a project's initial advice statement (refer to Figure 1) and will assist in identifying any project specific SIA requirements for the EIS terms of reference.

For an SIA undertaken under the Planning Act, the relevant local governments are the key contact for SIA scoping. Prior to commencing an SIA for an intended project, a notice of intent must be provided to the relevant local governments advising of the intent to undertake the SIA and offering the opportunity to participate in the scoping of the SIA study. Consideration should also be given to identifying state agencies and departments for notification, engagement and consultation on matters relating to the SIA study area (for example, the Department of Transport and Main Roads for key transport infrastructure and services). While discretionary, early engagement can enhance access to data and expertise, strengthen scoping, inform the social baseline and support assessment of potential impacts on statemanaged services.

Determining the study area

The SIA study area identifies the potential area of influence for social impacts as a result of the project. Key considerations in determining the study area include:

- the nature and scale of the proposed project, including associated infrastructure
- the scope of the potential social impacts throughout the project lifecycle
- the location and characteristics of potentially affected communities (including nearby regional communities and relevant local government areas)
- key built and natural features including, for example, infrastructure such as the local road network and local areas of recreation and open space and nearby urban / rural centres
- native title rights and other interests held by First Nations peoples
- location of other projects in the region, as identified in the EIS, where relevant, or through discussion with relevant local governments, which may contribute to cumulative social impacts over time.

Based on these considerations, multiple study areas may be required in order to assess potential project impacts at differing geographic scales or locations (for example, a local study area and a regional / wider study area as important to establish the baseline context and provide a point of comparison for wider trends and project-driven impacts).

A local study area would represent those communities considered to be most highly impacted by social impacts as a result of the project, and likely to experience direct impacts. A regional / wider study area

would represent those areas and communities considered to be likely or potentially impacted by social impacts as a result of the project, in a less direct, or less frequent manner than the local study area.

Potentially affected communities are those local and/or regional communities that may be affected by a proposed project, whether negatively or positively. A more detailed understanding of the characteristics of potentially affected communities, and the potential social impacts of the project, is obtained as the SIA process progresses, which will allow for the identification of potentially impacted communities (refer to section 2.3.5).

2.3.2 Baseline analysis

A social baseline describes the existing social conditions and trends within the SIA study area and provides a benchmark against which potential social impacts can be assessed.

The social baseline should include:

- policy and strategic context a high-level overview of the strategic policy context for the study area(s)
 focused on the social plans and aspirations including from local government community plans
- a demographic profile of potentially affected communities over an appropriate timeframe, including analysis of key indicators and trends, and a summary of the employment and education characteristics of residents within the study area(s) including an employment, unemployment, industry employment, Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas (SEIFA) ranking, and education, as well as an assessment of the likely availability of personnel with skills relevant to the project
- an analysis of community characteristics such as community culture and values, community history, community well-being, land/property ownership and utilisation of natural resources
- details of the capacity of those potentially affected to participate in the community and stakeholder engagement
- land use and character an overview of existing land use and key industries in the region, and built/natural character within the study area(s)
- social infrastructure an overview of key services, community facilities and other infrastructure within the study area(s) including detail on the capacity and accessibility of infrastructure, facilities and services, including education, health and emergency services
- housing profile a summary of key communities, households and housing types within the study area(s) including an analysis of the existing housing and accommodation market, including availability, accessibility, capacity and affordability
- travel and access profile a high-level overview of the local travel behaviour, including vehicle ownership, method of travel to work, key transport infrastructure and services, and origin-destination data where available. Additionally, it includes an overview of likely project-associated haulage routes, with consideration of the transportation of oversize and/or overmass materials
- community values an analysis and summary of the core community values within the study area(s), typically covering community cohesion, key aspirations, fears and values relevant to the project
- details of other resource and infrastructure projects in the area, both planned and currently operating, based on publicly accessible information.

The scope, context, scale and level of detail in the social baseline is to reflect the nature of the project and the scope of the potential social impacts. Social baseline data must be as reliable as reasonably possible and include both desktop and field studies. Desktop data must be up to date and obtained from reputable sources (for example, census data, local government planning reports, and peer-reviewed research publications).

Prior to undertaking any field studies, the proponent will evaluate the quality and completeness of the data obtained through desktop research and identify any gaps to determine the requirements for additional data collection. Any required field data collection and analysis must be based on statistically sound methodologies.

Data for First Nations peoples must be incorporated into the social baseline.

The baseline should conclude with a summary of the key communities, and groups who may be particularly vulnerable to social impacts, based on the baseline information. This should indicate whether the future will remain the same as the baseline, or if projected changes are likely without the project.

2.3.3 Community and stakeholder engagement

Community and stakeholder engagement for an EIS project includes the following elements.

Table 2Community and stakeholder engagement for an EIS project

Project	The proponent's project level stakeholder engagement including overall project communications, negotiations, public relations and complaints management.
EIS	The statutory stakeholder notification and consultation required for the EIS process.
SIA	Community and stakeholder engagement for the purpose of informing the development of the SIA report.
Post EIS	Community and stakeholder engagement to inform the ongoing monitoring, review and update of management measures.

Under the Planning Act, community and stakeholder engagement for the project should be co-designed with relevant local governments and at a minimum, a notice of intent to commence engagement activities must be issued. Community and stakeholder engagement may include these elements:

Project	The proponent's project level stakeholder engagement including overall project communications, negotiations, public relations and complaints management prior to development assessment submission.
SIA	Community and stakeholder engagement for the purposes of informing the development of the SIA report – including the submission of a notice of intent to commence engagement to the relevant local governments.
Development application assessment process	Public notification in accordance with the Planning Act. Optional additional community and stakeholder engagement during the public notification stage of a development application.
Post development application approval	Community and stakeholder engagement to inform the ongoing monitoring, review and update of measures through a condition of approval.

Table 3	Community and stakeholder engagement for a project under the Planning Act
---------	---

The proponent should integrate the above elements of the engagement program to reduce the risk of engagement fatigue for potentially affected communities.

In the context of the SIA, community and stakeholder engagement is undertaken to:

· understand who is likely to be impacted and how

- understand the values and characteristics of potentially affected communities
- · identify and assess potential social impacts
- · develop management measures to mitigate adverse impacts and enhance benefits
- support monitoring and reporting (including outcomes and performance indicators).

A consultative and inclusive engagement program is to commence at an early stage in the SIA process and is to consider the nature of the project and the needs of the different stakeholder groups. Stakeholders should include local residents and landholders, state agencies and local governments, non-governmental organisations and other identified stakeholders.

Further detail on the role of various stakeholders in the SIA process is provided in Appendix 1.

Stakeholders are to be provided with timely and relevant information about the project which presents an accurate indication of potential impacts and benefits. Stakeholder input is to inform the development of the SIA, including the baseline analysis, assessment of impact, and development of management measures.

2.3.4 Assessment of impact

The purpose of the assessment of impact is to identify and assess the potential social impacts associated with a project. This includes the associated infrastructure for the project such as roads, pipelines and worker accommodation villages. At this stage of the SIA process the assessment will identify potentially affected communities that are likely to be impacted (referred to as "potentially impacted communities").

Social impacts are the issues that affect people and the potentially impacted communities in which they live as a result of a project. Types of social impacts include:

- · changes to community values and/or the way the community functions
- impacts on how people live, work, play and interact with one another on a day-to-day basis
- impacts on culture, history, and ability to access cultural resources
- impacts on communities' physical safety, exposure to hazards or risks, and access to and control over resources
- impacts on communities' quality of life including liveability and aesthetics, as well as the condition of their environment (for example, air quality, noise levels, and access to water)
- · impacts on communities' access to, and quality of, infrastructure, services and facilities
- impacts on communities' physical and mental health and well-being, as well as their social, cultural and economic well-being
- changes to livelihoods, for example, whether peoples' jobs, properties or businesses are affected, or whether they experience advantage/disadvantage.

The assessment of impact in the SIA report is to include sufficient detail and analysis to provide a clear understanding of the potential impacts of the project. The assessment must consider the level of impact at differing geographic scales within the SIA study area and be informed by consultation with stakeholders. The assessment of impact must also consider the social consequences of technical matters assessed in other parts of the EIS (for example, traffic management, economics, and noise).For projects outside of an EIS process, technical matters set out in planning schemes and relevant State Development Assessment Provisions, for example State Code 23: Wind farm development or State Code 26: Solar farm development.

Potential impacts which have been identified through the SIA process, and which do not fall within the scope of the key matters in section 3, must be addressed in the SIA.

The assessment of impact must also consider impact significance. An impact significance assessment is an analysis of the extent to which potentially impacted communities and stakeholders, may be affected, whether positively or negatively. Factors such as the probability, scale, duration and intensity of the impact, as well as the characteristics of the community or stakeholders which may be affected, should be considered. Where a potential impact is found to be significant, a residual significance assessment (extent of impact after management measures have been applied) is also required.

Consideration must also be given to potential cumulative impacts that could result from the combined effect of similar actions by multiple projects. In many instances, mitigation of these cumulative impacts may not be within the proponent's direct control, but an assessment nonetheless provides important context regarding the likely consequences that would be experienced by potentially impacted communities.

For projects assessed under the Planning Act, the definition of social impact under section 106R and the scope of references to impact under section 106S must be considered. Cumulative impacts should be assessed to the extent reasonably practicable, taking into account the timing of assessment prior to the submission of a development application. This assessment should draw on the combined knowledge of proponents and local governments regarding relevant projects within the region. Additional relevant sources may include publicly notified project plans (e.g. information published on project websites), non-commercial-in-confidence information provided to the local government by other proponents, or insights gained through direct engagement with other project proponents.

For projects assessed under the SDPWO Act, the Coordinator-General, or under the Planning Act, the relevant local governments, may establish an SIA cross-agency reference groups (CARGs) on a needs basis for relevant regions when required to provide a collaborative approach to SIA and the assessment of cumulative impacts. Membership of the CARGs will include relevant state government agencies and local governments. A project proponent may be invited to a CARG meeting to discuss project details and proposed impact mitigation and benefit enhancement measures. Other stakeholders may also be invited to attend a CARG meeting as required.

2.3.5 Impact mitigation and benefit enhancement

Once potentially significant social impacts have been identified, the proponent, in consultation with potentially impacted communities and other stakeholders, must develop and document social impact mitigation and benefit enhancement measures (collectively referred to as "management measures") within the SIA report.

The SIA report must provide management measures for all potentially significant negative impacts and must demonstrate that the hierarchy of avoid and mitigate has been followed. Options to mitigate social impacts must only be proposed where all reasonable measures relating to project design, location, consultation and implementation have been explored to avoid negative social impacts.

The SIA report must include the following for each proposed management measure:

- the potential impact
- a description of the management measure, and an assessment of its adequacy
- · defined outcomes and performance indicators
- · residual impacts and how these will be addressed
- monitoring and reporting framework.

Management measures should be outcomes focused, reasonable, relevant, transparent and monitorable. The management measures that are developed through the SIA process are to be embedded within the proponent's internal social management systems and will inform the development of the social impact management plan (SIMP) and may inform a CBA between relevant parties.

For an SIA undertaken under the Planning Act, the SIA report must be provided to the relevant local governments.

2.3.6 Social impact management plan

Under the EIS process, the management measures identified through the SIA process must be documented in an SIMP, which will provide a practical basis for their implementation.

The SIMP is to include detail on the proposed management measures, timeframes for implementation, roles and responsibilities, stakeholders, and potential partnerships. The SIMP must also incorporate processes to ensure that throughout the project lifecycle:

- the effectiveness of management measures is monitored
- ineffective management measures are amended.

A SIMP is to be provided in the SIA report and submitted as part of the EIS.

For an SIA undertaken under the Planning Act, the development of an SIMP is an optional step, but represents best practice showcasing the implementation of management measures. An SIMP may also reference strategies that are anticipated to be formalised in a CBA.

2.3.7 Monitoring, review and update

The potential social impacts identified in the project's SIA report reflect the existing social conditions and trends within the SIA study area at the time of the assessment. Changes to social conditions and trends can occur over time.

Under the EIS process, the proponent may be required to update the SIA report, which would inform an updated SIMP, if more than two years have elapsed between the Coordinator-General's evaluation of the SIA report and the commencement of construction or if the social conditions within the SIA study area change significantly from those evaluated in the SIA report.

To ensure that the project's social management measures remain current and effective, the proponent is required to monitor the implementation of their SIMP throughout the project lifecycle. Stakeholder feedback and field data collection will play a role in this process.

The purpose of monitoring is to:

- track the progress and assess the appropriateness and effectiveness of the management measures
- assess the actual project impacts against the potential impacts and social indicators identified in the SIA
- capture information with which to advise potentially impacted communities and government on progress and achievements
- facilitate engagement, consultation and collaboration with stakeholders.

The key components of a monitoring program are:

- a list of identified impacts, issues and benefits
- targets and outcomes sought

- description of how management measures will be monitored and reported
- the party responsible for monitoring
- timing and frequency of monitoring
- key performance indicators
- mechanisms to update management measures, if required.

The Coordinator-General may condition a project to specify how often the project's SIA report and SIMP should be updated. There should be a continuous improvement approach throughout the project lifecycle involving the review and adaption, where required, of potential impacts, management measures, and outcomes.

Under the Planning Act process, if an SIMP is optionally included to document management measures, its monitoring, review, and updating should be considered as part of CBA negotiations, where appropriate and relevant.

2.3.8 Compliance and reporting

For projects requiring an EIS, the Coordinator-General will set conditions to manage social impacts. The Coordinator-General may also require the proponent to report on matters such as:

- compliance with the Coordinator-General's conditions for the project
- implementation of the SIMP and proponent commitments
- community and stakeholder engagement, including complaints management
- monitoring outcomes.

The frequency of reporting to the Coordinator-General will depend on the individual circumstances of each project and will be specified in the Coordinator-General's conditions for the project.

Section 11 of the SSRC Act and Part 7A of the SDPWO Act authorises the Coordinator-General to enforce compliance with project conditions. Compliance actions may include:

- a review by the Coordinator-General of SIAs and management plans
- direction to the proponent on corrective actions that may be required
- an audit by the Coordinator-General to verify compliance
- a third-party audit.

For SIAs prepared under the Planning Act, reporting and compliance requirements may be established in a CBA, as well as conditions of development approval.

Responsibility for reporting and compliance obligations identified in a CBA are subject to the terms and conditions as identified in the CBA, and as agreed between the parties.

Section 65AA of the Planning Act identifies the entity with the power to enforce compliance with conditions of development approval.

3. Key matters for the SIA

This section details the requirements for each of the key matters the SIA for a project must provide for:

- community and stakeholder engagement
- workforce management
- housing and accommodation
- · local business and industry procurement
- health and community well-being.

The scope, objectives and detail to be provided in the SIA for each key matter is explained below.

3.1 Community and stakeholder engagement

3.1.1 Scope

This matter applies to the SIA requirements for engagement with potentially impacted communities and stakeholders. The SIA report must include an explanation of the community and stakeholder engagement undertaken during the SIA process, as well as proposed measures for ongoing engagement during construction and operation.

3.1.2 Objective

To ensure transparent and inclusive community and stakeholder engagement informs the SIA process, and the ongoing management and monitoring of potential social impacts during the construction and operational phases of the project.

3.1.3 Detail required in the SIA report

The SIA report must include the following details for community and stakeholder engagement:

- a profile of potentially impacted communities, and analysis of key stakeholders
- a description of engagement undertaken in support of the SIA, including details such as:
 - stakeholders consulted, and how and when they were consulted
 - principles and processes adopted
 - an overview of the consultation program and key events
 - stakeholder feedback and issues raised (including the means by which these have been or will be addressed)
 - records of engagement activities and details of any negotiations or agreements with potentially impacted stakeholders
- a description of how stakeholder input has informed the baseline analysis, social impact assessment, and the development of management measures
- a community and stakeholder engagement plan for the construction and operational phases of the project, which includes:

- objectives and key performance indicators
- measures for ongoing engagement including action plans, and proposed communication tools and activities
- processes for incorporating stakeholder feedback into the further development of project-specific management measures
- details of any stakeholder agreements to be negotiated, including agreements with state agencies and local governments
- roles and responsibilities for engagement
- a complaints management process
- monitoring and reporting requirements.

For the purposes of the Planning Act, section 106V defines what an SIA report is, and section 106(W) identifies what an SIA report must contain, as well as meeting the criteria listed above.

3.2 Workforce management

3.2.1 Scope

This matter applies to the SIA requirements for the assessment and management of potential social impacts associated with the project workforce during the construction and operational phases. The project workforce includes employees of the project, as well as personnel engaged by principal contractors and subcontractors.

3.2.2 Objective

To ensure project workforce management practices:

- prioritise recruitment of workers from local and regional communities and workers who will live in regional communities
- reduce the proportion of workers engaged in FIFO arrangements, where operationally feasible
- support the health and well-being of the project workforce.

3.2.3 Detail required in the SIA report

The SIA report must include the following details regarding workforce management:

- a summary workforce profile for the construction and operational phases of the project, including the estimated proportion of FIFO workers
- an analysis of the local and regional labour market, and an assessment of potential social impacts, including:
 - employment opportunities
 - training and development opportunities
 - possible labour shortages within local communities due to project demand
- an assessment of opportunities for local workers to commute to and from work where safe and practical

- a workforce management plan for the construction and operational phases of the project which includes:
 - objectives and key performance indicators
 - roster arrangements for local, regional and FIFO workers
 - measures to enhance potential employment opportunities for local and regional communities, and to mitigate potential negative social impacts
 - provisions to achieve a recruitment hierarchy that prioritises recruitment of workers from the local and regional communities, then recruitment of workers who will live in regional communities
 - proposed training and development initiatives to improve local and regional skills and capacity including, where relevant, initiatives for traditionally underrepresented groups
 - programs to support the physical and mental health and well-being of workers.

3.3 Housing and accommodation

3.3.1 Scope

This matter applies to the SIA requirements for the assessment and management of potential social impacts from project housing and accommodation arrangements for the project workforce during the construction and operational phases.

3.3.2 Objective

To ensure project housing and accommodation arrangements:

- do not contribute to significant affordability and availability impacts on housing and accommodation in local and regional communities
- are well planned, enhance worker well-being, and do not place an excessive burden on existing infrastructure, facilities and services used by local and regional communities.

3.3.3 Detail required in the SIA report

The SIA report must include the following details regarding housing and accommodation:

- proposed workforce accommodation arrangements during the construction and operational phases of the project
- details of any proposed project workforce accommodation facilities or purpose built housing developments, including:
 - statement of need
 - planned size, capacity, layout, location and service life
 - strategies for the provision of adequate infrastructure, utilities, recreational facilities, health and social services for workers
 - status of any relevant approvals and agreements with local and state government agencies regarding provision of infrastructure, utilities and services
- projected population changes attributable to the project, including an estimate of workers and their households who may live in, or move to, local or regional communities

- an analysis of the local and regional housing and accommodation market, and an assessment of potential social impacts, including:
 - potential impacts to the availability and affordability of housing (both open market and rental) and other forms of accommodation
 - consequences of project induced housing market changes for local residents
 - potential opportunities for local accommodation providers
- a workforce housing and accommodation plan for the construction and operational phases of the project which includes:
 - objectives and key performance indicators
 - measures to enhance potential benefits for project workers and the community, and to mitigate potential negative social impacts
 - policies regarding housing and accommodation support to be provided to project workers and their families who wish to live locally.

3.4 Local business and industry procurement

3.4.1 Scope

This matter applies to the SIA requirements for the assessment and management of potential social impacts associated with the procurement of goods and services for the project during the construction and operational phases.

3.4.2 Objective

To ensure project procurement practices:

- maximise opportunities for competitive and capable local businesses to provide goods and services to the project
- reduce barriers to entry for local businesses where feasible.

3.4.3 Detail required in the SIA report

The SIA report must include the following details regarding local business and industry procurement:

- a profile of the skills, services and materials required by the project
- an analysis of local and regional supplier capability and capacity relevant to the project, and an assessment of potential social impacts, including:
 - opportunities to enhance the capacity of local businesses and supply chains
 - risks associated with monopolisation of goods and services by the project
- a local business and industry procurement plan for the construction and operational phases of the project which includes:
 - objectives and key performance indicators
 - procurement strategies and initiatives for local and nearby regional suppliers, including First Nations owned businesses, and actions to facilitate participation

- proposed policies and programs to build local and regional capacity and capability, and reduce barriers to entry
- processes that embed the local business and industry procurement strategies into the contracting model for the project
- measures to mitigate any potential negative social impacts on local industries details of any established industry guidelines or codes of practice which the proponent has committed to complying with.

3.5 Health and community well-being

3.5.1 Scope

This matter applies to the SIA requirements for the assessment and management of potential social impacts from the project to the health and well-being of potentially impacted communities during the construction and operational phases. This matter includes physical and mental health, as well as social, cultural and economic well-being.

3.5.2 Objective

To ensure the project:

- avoids or mitigates negative social impacts and capitalises on opportunities to improve the health and well-being of local and regional communities
- does not adversely impact on the level of service to local and regional communities from existing social services, facilities and infrastructure.

3.5.3 Detail required in the SIA report

The SIA report must include the following details regarding health and community well-being:

- an analysis of the availability, accessibility and capacity of, and an assessment of potential project impacts on, existing social services, facilities and infrastructure such as:
 - healthcare and emergency response
 - transport and utilities
 - education and childcare
 - community support services
- an analysis of the health and well-being of potentially impacted communities, and an assessment of potential social impacts, including:
 - community health, safety and security (including exposure to hazards and risks)
 - environmental factors such as air quality, noise and water
 - livelihoods, economic well-being and access to resources
 - community lifestyles and cultural practices, amenity value, social character, and community cohesion
- a health and community well-being plan for the construction and operational phases of the project which includes:

- objectives and key performance indicators measures to ensure that the level of service provided to the local community by existing social services, facilities and infrastructure is not reduced
- measures to mitigate potential health and well-being impacts on local communities, and enhance potential benefits
- the level of on-site health services to be provided for workers
- details of any workforce code of conduct to govern worker interactions with local communities
- emergency response arrangements and management measures agreed with emergency service providers, for incidents both on and off the project site
- details of any community development programs to be implemented, and the outcomes to be achieved.

Appendix 1. Roles of key stakeholders

Table A1.1 Roles of key stakeholders

Stakeholders	Role
Coordinator-General	For projects requiring an EIS, the Coordinator-General is responsible for:
	 convening CARGs, where necessary
	 considering stakeholder submissions, including those of local governments, on the terms of reference and the SIA report
	 evaluating and deciding the adequacy of the SIA report
	 conditioning to manage a social impact, if necessary
	monitoring and enforcing ongoing compliance.
Project proponents	Project proponents are required to follow the SIA process, prepare an SIA report, and prepare and implement an SIMP for their project in accordance with this SIA Guideline. Project proponents are also required to engage with potentially impacted communities and stakeholders in a transparent and inclusive manner throughout the project lifecycle.
State agencies	For projects assessed by the Coordinator-General, State agencies are required to provide information and data for the social baseline, review an SIA report, participate in the CARG process and assess potential project impacts on state government services.
	For projects assessed under the Planning Act, State agencies may assist with the development and execution of an SIA, including convening CARGs, where necessary, but have no statutory obligation.
Local government	For projects assessed under the Planning Act, local governments will take the lead in collaborating with project proponents across the SIA lifecycle and any subsequent implementation vehicle such as a CBA.
	In both assessment processes when preparing the SIA, project proponents must consult with the relevant local governments for the area in which the project is located. Engagement with local governments should commence early in the SIA process. The relevant local governments will play an important role in reviewing project proposals and providing information for the social baseline. Relevant local governments may also:
	 where local governments are assessment managers, convening CARGs, where necessary
	 participate in the CARG process (if relevant)
	 engage, collaborate and negotiate with proponents on the management of project impacts on local government services
	 review and provide feedback on the SIA report and assess potential project impacts on local government services
	• represent or coordinate local community groups, as appropriate.
Non-government organisations	Non-government organisations may be requested to provide information for the social baseline. These organisations may also:
	 review an SIA report and assess potential impacts on non- government services
	 engage with proponents on the management of potential impacts to non-government services.

Stakeholders	Role
Unions	Relevant unions will be requested to provide information to support the social baseline. They may also be requested to:
	 review an SIA report and assess potential social impacts
	 engage with proponents on the management of potential social impacts
	represent employee groups.
Industry groups and businesses	Industry groups and businesses may be consulted regarding the provision of information to support the social baseline. They may also:
	 review an SIA report and assess potential social impacts
	 engage with proponents on the management of potential social impacts.
First Nations people	First Nations peoples have the opportunity to make submissions on a project's terms of reference and review an SIA report during the EIS public consultation period.
	First Nations peoples may also have the ability to make submissions during the public notification stage of the development assessment process, where relevant.
	First Nations peoples, where relevant, must also be engaged with by the proponent through stakeholder engagement processes and provide information for the social baseline and comment on social impact management strategies regarding potential cultural, social and economic impacts.
The community	All members of potentially impacted communities and stakeholders have the opportunity to make submissions on a project's terms of reference and review an SIA report during the EIS public consultation period.
	All members of the community may also have the ability to make submissions during the public notification stage of the development assessment process, where relevant.
	These groups may also be engaged by the proponent through the stakeholder engagement processes outlined in this SIA Guideline.

Appendix 2. References

Queensland Human Rights Commission, *Applications for Tribunal exemptions*, 2018 www.qhrc.qld.gov.au/resources/legal-information/exemptions

International Association for Impact Assessment (IAIA), *Social impact assessment: Guidance for assessing and managing the social impacts of projects*, IAIA, 2015 www.iaia.org/uploads/pdf/SIA Guidance Document IAIA.pdf

International Association for Public Participation (IAP2), *Quality assurance standard for community and stakeholder engagement*, IAP2, 2015 <u>iap2content.s3.ap-southeast-</u>

2.amazonaws.com/marketing/Resources/IAP2/IAP2+Quality+Assurance+Standard+Booklet.pdf

International Council on Mining & Metals (ICMM), *Stakeholder research toolkit*, ICMM, 2015 www.icmm.com/website/publications/pdfs/social-performance/2015/guidance_stakeholder-research.pdf

International Finance Corporation (IFC), Stakeholder engagement: A good practice handbook for companies doing business in emerging markets, IFC, 2007

www.ifc.org/wps/wcm/connect/topics_ext_content/ifc_external_corporate_site/sustainability-atifc/publications/publications_handbook_stakeholderengagement_wci__1319577185063

Minerals Council of Australia (MCA), *Cumulative environmental impact assessment: Industry guide*, MCA, 2015 <u>https://minerals.org.au/wp-</u>

content/uploads/2023/01/Cumulative_Environmental_Impact_Assessment_Industry_Guide_FINAL_0.pdf

Queensland Health (QH), Health considerations – Environmental impact statement: Guidelines for proponents, QH, 2016 www.health.qld.gov.au/____data/assets/pdf_file/0034/444949/environ-impact-state-guidelines.pdf

Queensland Resources Council (QRC), *Code of practice for local content*, QRC, Brisbane, 2013 <u>www.qrc.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/Local-Content-Code-of-Practice.pdf</u>

Vanclay, F, 'International principles for social impact assessment', *Impact Assessment and Project Appraisal*, 2003 www.iaia.org/uploads/pdf/IAIA-SIA-International-Principles.pdf

Office of the Coordinator-General Department of State Development, Infrastructure and Planning PO Box 15517 City East Qld 4002 Australia tel 1800 001 048 cpdinfo@coordinatorgeneral.qld.gov.au www.statedevelopment.qld.gov.au/cg



